UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

(mark o	ne)	
X	QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)	OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
	For the Quarterly Period ended March 31, 2002	
o	TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)	OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
	For the transition period from to	_·
	Commission File	Number: 0-21044
	UNIVERSAL ELE (Exact name of Registrant	
	Delaware	33-0204817
	(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)	(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
	6101 Gateway Drive	90630
	Cypress, California (Address of principal executive offices)	(Zip Code)
	Registrant's telephone number, in	cluding area code: (714) 820-1000
	by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to ding 12 months, and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for	be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the past 90 days.
	Yes [X]	No []
	the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer's classes of comm r value \$.01 per share, of the Registrant were outstanding at March 31, 2	on stock, as of the latest practicable date —13,813,529 shares of Common 002.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>Item 1. Consolidated Financial Statements</u>

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K

SIGNATURE

Exhibit 10.1

UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC.

INDEX

		Page
PART I	FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Consolidated Financial Statements	
	Consolidated Balance Sheets	3
	Consolidated Income Statements	4
	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	5
	Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	6
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	9
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	15
PART II	OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 6.	Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K	16
Signature		17
	2	

Item 1. Consolidated Financial Statements

UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share-related data) (Unaudited)

	March 31, 2002	December 31, 2001
ASSETS		
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 37,311	\$ 34,270
Accounts receivable, net	23,165	28,209
Inventories	17,483	16,700
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	1,199	829
Deferred income taxes	1,925	1,925
Income tax receivable	387	387
Total current assets	81,470	82,320
Equipment, furniture and fixtures, net	3,875	3,828
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net	6,272	6,094
Other assets	765	713
Deferred income taxes	1,750	1,750
Total assets	\$ 94,132	\$ 94,705
	_	
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY		
Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable	\$ 9,375	\$ 9,383
Accrued income taxes	129	842
Accrued compensation	1,170	861
Other accrued expenses	3,571	3,812
Total current liabilities	14,245	14,898
Notes payable	86	104
Total liabilities	14,331	15,002
Commitments and contingencies		
Stockholders' equity:		
Preferred stock, \$.01 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued or outstanding	_	_
Common stock, \$.01 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized; 15,754,717 and 15,729,928 shares issued		
at March 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001, respectively	158	157
Paid-in capital	68,872	68,657
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)	(2,624)	(1,804)
Retained earnings	24,648	23,973
Deferred stock-based compensation	(281)	(308)
Common stock in treasury, 1,941,188 and 1,943,304 shares at March 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001,	(10.070)	(10.052)
respectively	(10,972)	(10,972)
Total stockholders' equity	79,801	79,703
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$ 94,132	\$ 94,705

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC. CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except per share amounts) (Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended March 31,	
	2002	2001
Net sales	\$23,411	\$31,023
Cost of sales	13,995	17,713
Gross profit	9,416	13,310
Selling, general and administrative expenses	8,525	9,307
Operating income	891	4,003
Interest income, net	(117)	(274)
Other expense (income), net	(31)	42
Income before income taxes	1,039	4,235
Provision for income taxes	364	1,694
Net income	\$ 675	\$ 2,541
Net income per share:		
Basic	\$ 0.05	\$ 0.18
Diluted	\$ 0.05	\$ 0.17
Weighted average common stock outstanding:		
Basic	13,800	13,818
		7,000
Diluted	14,370	14,588
Diluted	14,570	14,566

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands) (Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended March 31,	
	2002	2001
Cash provided by operating activities:		
Net income	\$ 675	\$ 2,541
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:		
Depreciation and amortization	906	1,051
Other	89	113
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:		
Accounts receivable	4,626	9,550
Inventory	(783)	(3,423)
Prepaid expenses and other assets	(434)	(141)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	643	(2,266)
Accrued income and other taxes	(1,203)	(1,312)
Net cash provided by operating activities	4,519	6,113
Cash used for investing activities:		
Acquisition of fixed assets	(729)	(509)
Payments for businesses acquired	(44)	(33)
Acquisition of intangible assets	(403)	(7)
Net cash used for investing activities	(1,176)	(549)
Cash provided by financing activities:		
Proceeds from stock options exercised	163	431
Payments on note payable	(17)	(4)
Net cash provided by financing activities	146	427
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash	(448)	363
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	3,041	6,354
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	34,270	20,809
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$37,311	\$27,163
•		

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Adjustments

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all subsidiaries after elimination of all material intercompany accounts and transactions. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America have been condensed or omitted pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes contained in the Company's 2001 Form 10-K. The financial information presented in the accompanying statements reflects all adjustments that are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of the periods indicated. All such adjustments are of a normal recurring nature.

Inventories

Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):

	March 31, 2002	December 31, 2001
Components	\$ 8,434	\$ 8,526
Finished goods	9,049	8,174
Total inventories	\$17,483	\$16,700

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and dilutive potential common shares, which includes the dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock grants. Dilutive potential common shares for all periods presented are computed utilizing the treasury stock method. In the computation of diluted earnings per common share for the three-month period ended March 31, 2002, approximately 1,052,000 stock options, respectively, with exercise prices greater than the average market price of the underlying common stock were excluded because their inclusion would have been antidilutive.

Earnings per share for the quarters ended March 31, 2002 and 2001 are calculated as follows:

	Three Months Ended	
	March 31, 2002	March 31, 2001
	(in 000's, excep	t per share data)
BASIC		
Net Income	\$ 675	\$ 2,541
Weighted-average common shares outstanding	13,800	13,818
Basic earnings per share	\$ 0.05	\$ 0.18
DILUTED		
Net Income	\$ 675	\$ 2,541
Weighted-average common shares outstanding for basic	13,800	13,818
Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock	570	770
Weighted-average common shares outstanding on a diluted		
basis	14,370	14,588
Diluted earnings per share	\$ 0.05	\$ 0.17

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The components of comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, are listed below:

2002 2001	
(in thousands)	
Net income \$ 675 \$2,541	

Other comprehensive income (loss):		
Foreign currency translations	(820)	(178)
Comprehensive income (loss):	\$(145)	\$2,363

New Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations" and SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Intangible Assets." SFAS No. 141 requires that the purchase method of accounting be used for all business combinations, establishes specific criteria for recognizing intangible assets separately from goodwill and requires certain disclosures regarding reasons for a business combination and the allocation of the purchase price paid. SFAS No. 141 is effective for all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 142 establishes that goodwill and certain intangible assets will no longer be amortized to earnings, but instead tested for impairment at least annually. The company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 141 and SFAS No. 142 on January 1, 2002.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, we prospectively ceased amortization on approximately \$3.0 million of net unamortized goodwill beginning January 1, 2002. We recorded approximately \$565,000 of annual amortization during 2001 and would have recorded approximately \$149,000 of amortization during the first quarter of 2002. In lieu of amortization, we are required to perform an initial impairment review of our goodwill in 2002 and an annual impairment review thereafter. We expect to complete our initial review during the second quarter of 2002. Currently, we do not expect to record an impairment charge upon completion of our initial impairment review. However, there can be no assurance that at the time the review is completed, a material impairment charge will not be recorded.

The following table shows, on a pro-forma basis, what net income and earnings per share would have been for the three months ended March 31, 2001 if the new accounting standards had been applied beginning January 1, 2001 (in thousands):

Net income, as reported	\$2,541
Add back: goodwill amortization, net of tax effect	90
Pro-forma net income	\$2,631
Basic earnings per share, as reported	\$ 0.18
Add back: goodwill amortization, net of tax effect	0.01
Pro-forma basic earnings per share	\$ 0.19
	_
Diluted earnings per share, as reported	\$ 0.17
Add back: goodwill amortization, net of tax effect	0.01
Pro-forma diluted earnings per share	\$ 0.18

Accounting Policy for Derivatives

The Company enters into foreign currency option-based arrangements, with contract terms normally lasting less than six months, to protect against the adverse effects that exchange-rate fluctuations may have on foreign-currency-denominated trade receivables. These derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting, in accordance with SFAS 133, because they relate to existing assets denominated in a foreign currency. The gains and losses on both the derivatives and the foreign-currency-denominated trade receivables are recorded as transaction adjustments in current earnings.

Our currency exposures are primarily concentrated in the Euro and British Pound Sterling, and to a lesser extent, certain other international currencies. The Company had no foreign exchange contracts at March 31, 2002. We do not enter into financial instruments for speculation or trading purposes. These financial exposures are monitored and managed by us as an integral part of our overall risk management program, which recognizes the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to reduce the potentially adverse effect on our results.

Business Segments and Foreign Operations

The Company operates in a single industry segment and is engaged in the development and marketing of pre-programmed wireless control devices and related products principally for video and audio entertainment equipment. The Company's customers consist primarily of international retailers, private label customers, original equipment manufacturers and subscription broadcasting operators.

The Company's operations and identifiable assets by geographic area in thousands are presented below:

	Three Months Ended March 31,	
	2002	2001
Net Sales		
United States	\$15,923	\$23,422
Netherlands	2,759	2,410
United Kingdom	1,443	1,349
France	989	1,167
Germany	784	935
All Other	1,513	1,740
Total Net Sales	\$23,411	\$31,023
	March 31, 2002	December 31, 2001
Identifiable Assets		
United States	\$ 6,702	\$ 6,510
All Other Countries	4,210	4,125
Total Identifiable Assets	\$10,912	\$10,635

Specific identification of customer location was the basis used for attributing revenues from external customers to individual countries.

Reclassifications

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation.

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

The Company is a party to lawsuits and claims arising in the normal course of its business. In the opinion of management, the Company's liability or recovery, if any, under pending litigation and claims would not materially adversely affect its results of operations, cash flows or financial condition.

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Results of Operations

First Quarter 2002 versus 2001

Net sales for the 2002 first quarter were \$23.4 million compared to \$31.0 million for the same quarter last year. Net sales of the Company's technology products (subscription broadcasting, OEM and private label) were approximately 79.1% of net sales for the first quarter of 2002 compared to 81.5% for the first quarter of 2001. Net sales from the retail portion (*One For All*® international and direct import) accounted for approximately 20.9% of total first quarter 2002 net sales compared to 18.5% for the corresponding period in 2001.

Net sales of the Company's technology products for the first quarter of 2002 decreased by 26.7% to \$18.5 million from \$25.3 million for the same period last year. The decrease in technology sales was principally due to reduced orders from cable service providers and cable-related OEM customers in North America.

The Company's net sales for the 2002 first quarter from its retail customers were \$4.9 million, a decrease of 15.0% from net sales of \$5.7 million for the same quarter last year. The decrease in retail sales was attributable to a decrease of \$446,000 in direct import revenues from \$607,000 in the first quarter of 2001 to \$161,000 in first quarter of 2002. One For All international revenues also decreased from \$5.1 million for the first quarter of 2001 to \$4.7 million for the same period in 2002 primarily due to decreased sales volume to customers in Argentina.

The Company's overall gross profit margin for the first quarter of 2002 was 40.2% compared to a gross margin of 42.9% for the same period last year. The lower gross margin during the quarter was a result of fewer sales of higher margin technology products.

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased 8.4% from \$9.3 million in the first quarter of 2001 to \$8.5 million for the same period in 2002. The decrease was primarily attributable to reduced advertising and tradeshow expenses in addition to lower bonus and commission cost accruals as a result of lower sales, partially offset by an increase in professional services. Furthermore, during the first quarter ending March 31, 2002, the Company ceased goodwill amortization in accordance with SFAS No. 142, resulting in a decrease in expense of approximately \$149,000.

In the first quarter of 2002, the Company recorded \$117,000 of interest income compared to \$274,000 for the same period last year. This \$157,000 decrease is primarily due to lower interest rates earned on cash balances in 2002.

The Company recorded income tax expense of \$0.4 million for the first quarter of 2002 compared to approximately \$1.7 million for the same period last year. The decrease was due to lower pretax income in 2002 and a reduction of our effective tax rate resulting from the use of certain identified research and development credits. Our effective tax rate has been reduced from 40% in the first quarter of 2001 to 35% during the same period in 2002.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Universal's principal sources of funds are our operations and bank credit facilities. Cash provided by operating activities for our first quarter in 2002 was \$4.5 million as compared to \$6.1 million in the corresponding period in 2001. The decrease in cash flow is primarily due to lower sales in the first quarter of 2002.

On April 01, 2002, we entered into a \$15 million unsecured revolving credit agreement (the "Agreement") with Bank of America National Trust and Savings Association ("B of A"). Under the Agreement with B of A, we can choose from several interest rate options at our discretion. The interest rate in effect as of April 01, 2002 using the IBOR Rate option plus a fixed margin of 1.25%, was 3.12%. We pay a commitment fee of a maximum rate of 1/8 of 1% per year on the unused portion of the credit line. Under the terms of this Agreement, our ability to pay cash dividends on our common stock is restricted and we are subject to certain financial covenants and other restrictions that are standard for these types of agreements. However, we have authority under this credit facility to acquire up to 1,000,000 shares of our common stock in market

purchases and, since the date of this Agreement, no Company shares have been purchased. Amounts available for borrowing under this credit facility are reduced by the outstanding balance of our import letters of credit. As of April 01, 2002, we had no amounts outstanding under this credit facility and \$500,000 outstanding import letters of credit.

There were no open market purchases of our common stock in the first quarter of 2002. We hold shares purchased on the open market as treasury stock and they are available for reissue by the Company. Presently, except for using a small number of these treasury shares to compensate our outside board members, we have no plans to distribute these shares, although we may change these plans if necessary to fulfill our on-going business objectives. In addition, during the three months ended March 31, 2002, the Company received proceeds of approximately \$163,000 from the exercise of stock options granted to the Company's current and former employees, as compared to approximately \$431,000 during the same period in 2001.

Capital expenditures in the first quarter of 2002 and 2001 were approximately \$729,000 and \$509,000, respectively. These expenditures related primarily to the acquisition of product tooling.

On August 25, 2000, we completed our acquisition of a remote control distributor in France for approximately \$1.8 million, of which \$1.5 million was paid during 2000, \$143,000 was paid during 2001, \$44,000 was paid in the first quarter of 2002 and the remaining amount will be paid during the remainder of 2002.

RISK FACTORS

Forward Looking Statements

We caution that the following important factors, among others (including but not limited to factors discussed below or in the "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," as well as those factors discussed elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, or in our other reports filed from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission), could affect our actual results and could contribute to or cause our actual consolidated results to differ materially from those expressed in any of our forward-looking statements. The factors included here are not exhaustive. Further, any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made, and we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which such statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. New factors emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for management to predict all such factors, nor can we assess the impact of each such factor on the business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. Therefore, forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as a prediction of actual future results.

While we believe that the forward looking statements made in this report are based on reasonable assumptions, the actual outcome of such statements is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including the failure of our markets to continue growing and expanding in the manner we anticipated; the failure of our customers to grow and expand as we anticipated; the effects of natural or other events beyond our control; the effect of the economic environment in various geographical regions of the world on us and our customers; the growth of, acceptance of and the demand for our products and technologies in various markets and geographical regions, including cable, satellite, consumer electronics, retail and interactive TV, and home automation, not materializing as we believed; our inability to add profitable complementary products which are accepted by the marketplace; our inability to continue to maintain our operating costs at acceptable levels through our cost containment efforts; our realization of tax benefits from various tax projects initiated from time to time, the continued strength of our balance sheet, our inability to continue selling our products or licensing our technologies at higher or profitable margins throughout 2002 and beyond; the failure of the various markets and industries to grow or emerge as rapidly or as successfully as we believed; the continued growth of the digital market; our inability to obtain orders or maintain our order volume with new and existing customers; the possible dilutive effect our stock option program may have on our earnings per share and stock price; our inability to continue to obtain adequate quantities of component parts or secure adequate factory production capacity on a timely basis; and other factors listed from time to time in our press releases and filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Dependence Upon Key Suppliers

Most of the components used in our products are available from multiple sources; however, we have elected to purchase integrated circuit components used in our products from two main sources, each of which provides in excess of ten percent (10%) of the Company's microprocessors for use in our products. We have developed alternative sources of supply for these integrated circuit components. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to obtain these components on a timely basis. We generally maintain inventories of our integrated chips, which could be used in part to mitigate, but not eliminate, delays resulting from supply interruptions. An extended interruption, shortage or termination in the supply of any of the components used in our products, or a reduction in their quality or reliability, or a significant increase in prices of components, would have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and cash flows.

Dependence on Foreign Manufacturing

Third-party manufacturers located in foreign countries manufacture a majority of our wireless controls. Our arrangements with our foreign manufacturers are subject to the risks of doing business abroad, such as import duties, trade restrictions, work stoppages, political instability and other factors, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and cash flows. We believe that the loss of any one or more of our manufacturers would not have a long-term material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and cash flows because numerous other manufacturers are available to fulfill our requirements; however, the loss of any of our major manufacturers could adversely effect our business until alternative manufacturing arrangements are secured.

Potential Fluctuations in Quarterly Results

Our quarterly financial results may vary significantly depending primarily upon factors such as the timing of significant orders, the timing of our new product offerings and our competitors and product presentations and the loss or acquisition of any significant customers. Historically, our business has been influenced by the retail sales cycle, with increased sales in the last half of the year and the largest proportion of sales occurring in the last quarter. However, as sales of our subscription broadcasting and OEM products outpace growth in sales of our retail products, our retail seasonality could have a lesser effect on our overall revenue. Factors such as quarterly variations in financial results could adversely affect the market price of our common stock and cause it to fluctuate substantially. In addition, we may (i) increase our operating expenses to fund greater levels of research and development, increase our sales and marketing activities, develop new distribution channels, improve our operational and financial systems and broaden our customer support capabilities and (ii) incur significant operating expenses associated with any new acquisitions. To the extent that such expenses precede or are not subsequently followed by increased revenues, our business, operating results, financial condition and cash flows will be materially adversely affected.

In addition, we may experience significant fluctuations in future quarterly operating results due to many other factors, including demand for products, introduction or enhancement of products by us and our competitors, the loss or acquisition of any significant customers, market acceptance of new products, price reductions by us or our competitors, mix of distribution channels through which products are sold, level of product returns, mix of customers and products sold, component pricing, mix of international and domestic revenues, and general economic conditions. In addition, as a strategic response to changes in the competitive environment, we may from time to time make certain pricing or marketing decisions or acquisitions that could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition. As a result, we believe that period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations are not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied upon as any indication of future performance.

Due to all of the foregoing factors, it is likely that in some future quarters, our operating results will be below the expectations of public market analysts and investors. In such event, the price of our common stock would likely be materially adversely effected.

Dependence on Consumer Preference

We are susceptible to fluctuations in our business based upon consumer demand for our products. We believe that our success depends in substantial part on our ability to anticipate, gauge and respond to such fluctuations in consumer demand. However, it is impossible to predict with complete accuracy the occurrence and effect of any such event that will cause such fluctuations in consumer demand for our products. Moreover, we caution that any increases in sales or growth in revenue that we achieve may be transitory and should by no means be construed to mean that such increases or growth will continue.

Dependence Upon Timely Product Introduction

Our ability to remain competitive in the wireless control products market will depend in part upon our ability to successfully identify new product opportunities and to develop and introduce new products and enhancements on a timely and cost effective basis. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in developing and marketing new products or in enhancing our existing products, or that such new or enhanced products will achieve consumer acceptance, and if achieved, will sustain that acceptance, that products developed by others will not render our products non-competitive or obsolete or that we will be able to obtain or maintain the rights to use proprietary technologies developed by others which are incorporated in our products. Any failure to anticipate or respond adequately to technological developments and customer requirements, or any significant delays in product development or introduction, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

In addition, the introduction of new products that we may introduce in the future may require the expenditure of a significant amount of funds for research and development, tooling, manufacturing processes, inventory and marketing. In order to achieve high volume production of any new product, we may have to make substantial investments in inventory and expand our production capabilities.

Dependence on Major Customers

The economic strength and weakness of our worldwide customers affect our performance. We sell our wireless control products and proprietary technologies to private label customers, original equipment manufacturers, and companies involved in the subscription broadcasting industry. We also supply our products to our wholly owned, non-U.S. subsidiaries and to independent foreign distributors, who in turn distribute our products worldwide, with Europe, Australia, New Zealand, Mexico and selected countries in Asia and Latin America currently representing our principal foreign markets. Although there were no customers that acquired more than ten percent of the our products in 2001, the future loss of any key customer either in the United States or abroad due to the financial weakness or bankruptcy of any such customer or our inability to obtain orders or maintain our order volume with our major customers may have an adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Competition

The wireless control industry is characterized by intense competition based primarily on product availability, price, and speed of delivery, ability to tailor specific solutions to customer needs, quality and depth of product lines. Our competition is fragmented across our product lines, and accordingly, we do not compete with any one company across all product lines. We compete with a variety of entities, some of which have greater financial and other resources. Our ability to remain competitive in this industry depends in part on our ability to successfully identify new product opportunities and develop and introduce new products and enhancements on a timely and cost effective basis, as well as our ability to identify and enter into strategic alliances with entities doing business within the industries we serve. There can be no assurance that we and our product offerings will be and/or remain competitive or that any strategic alliances, if any, which we enter into will achieve the type, extent and amount of success or business that we expect or hope to achieve.

Potential for Litigation

As is typical in our industry and the nature and kind of business in which we are engaged, from time to time, various claims, charges and litigation are asserted or commenced by third parties against us or by us against third parties, arising from or related to product liability, infringement of patent or other intellectual property rights, breach of warranty, contractual relations, or employee relations. The amounts claimed may be substantial but may not bear any reasonable relationship to the merits of the claims or the extent of any real risk of court awards. In the fourth quarter of 2000, we filed lawsuits against four separate companies claiming that each of the four companies is infringing certain of our patents. Two of the lawsuits have been settled. In these actions, we are seeking money damages and injunctive relief. While it is the opinion of management that our products do not infringe any third party's patent or other intellectual property rights, the costs associated with defending or pursuing any such claims or litigation could be substantial and amounts awarded as final judgments, if any, in any such potential or pending litigation, could have a significant and material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Effects on Universal Due to International Operations

The risks of doing business in developing countries and economically volatile areas could adversely affect our operations, earnings and cash flows. Our expansion of sales into economically volatile areas, such as Asia-Pacific, Latin America and other emerging markets, subject us to a number of economic and other risks. Such risks include financial instability among customers in these regions, the volatility of economic conditions in countries dependent on exports from the United States and European markets, and political instability and potential conflicts among developing nations. We generally have experienced longer accounts receivable cycles in some established European markets as well as emerging international markets, in particular Latin America, when compared with the United States. We are also subject to any political and financial instability in the countries in which we operate, including inflation, recession, trade protection measures, local labor conditions, and unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, currency devaluation and interest rate fluctuations.

In 2000, we established a wholly owned subsidiary, *One For All* Argentina S.R.L., in Argentina for the support of our retail sales activities in Latin America, specifically in Argentina and Brazil. Net sales during 2001 were approximately \$1.2 million. In early 2002, the United States dollar was eliminated as Argentina's monetary benchmark, resulting in significant currency devaluation. As the functional currency in Argentina is the Argentinean peso and we anticipate that funds generated from collection of sales in Argentina will be maintained in Argentina, we do not anticipate that the elimination of the U.S. dollar as a monetary benchmark will result in a material adverse effect on our business. However, there can be no guarantee that economic circumstances in Argentina or elsewhere will not worsen, which could result in future effects on earnings should such events occur. Our failure to successfully manage economic, political and other risks relating to doing business in developing countries and economically and politically volatile areas could adversely affect our business.

General Economic Conditions

General economic conditions, both domestic and foreign, have an impact on our business and financial results. Continued weak global economic conditions could adversely impact our revenues and growth rate. During the year ended December 31, 2001, the information technology market weakened, first in the United States, then in Europe and Asia. Continued softness in these markets, particularly in the consumer and telecommunications sector, and purchasers' uncertainty about the extent of a global economic downturn could result in lower demand for our products. While worsening economic conditions have had a slightly negative impact on revenues to date, revenues, gross margins and earnings could deteriorate significantly or our growth rate could be adversely impacted in the future as a result of economic conditions.

The terrorist attacks that took place in the United States on September 11, 2001 were unprecedented events that have created many economic and political uncertainties. The potential for future terrorist attacks, the national and international responses to terrorist attacks, and other acts of war or hostility have created many economic and political uncertainties, which could adversely affect our business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows in the short or long-term in ways that cannot presently be predicted.

By operating our business in countries outside the United States, we are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and exchange ratios, nationalization or expropriation of assets, import/export controls, political instability, variations in the protection of intellectual property rights, limitations on foreign investments and restrictions on the ability to convert currency. These risks are inherent in conducting operations in geographically distant locations, with customers speaking different languages and having different cultural approaches to the conduct of business, any one of which alone or collectively, may have an adverse effect on our international operations, and consequently on our business, operating results, financial condition and cash flows. While we will continue to work toward minimizing any adverse effects of conducting our business abroad, no assurance can be made that we will be successful in doing so.

OUTLOOK

Our focus has been and will continue to be throughout 2002, the enhancement of our leadership position by developing custom products for our subscription broadcasting and OEM customers, growing our library capture expertise in existing infrared technology and emerging radio frequency standards, adding to our portfolio of patented or patent pending technologies, and developing new platform products.

We will also continue to invest in our database of device codes by analyzing OEM products for inclusion into our library as we keep our commitment to maintaining a worldwide infrared code library. In addition to our device code database, we will continue to invest in novel intellectual property to fortify our position in the market.

We will seek ways to increase our customer base worldwide, particularly in the areas of subscription broadcasting, OEM, and *One For All* international retail. We will continue to work on building stronger existing customer relationships by working with customers through joint surveys and product trials that will enable us to understand their needs. We intend to invest in new products and technology to meet our customer needs now and into the future.

We will also continue in 2002 to attempt to control our overall cost of doing business. We believe that through product design changes and our purchasing efforts, improvements in our gross margins and efficiencies in our selling, general and administrative expenses can be accomplished, although there can be no assurance that there will be any such improvements or savings and if accomplished, that any such improvements or savings will be significant or maintained.

Also during 2002, we will continue to pursue our overall strategy of seeking out ways to operate all aspects of the Company more profitably. This strategy will include looking at acceptable acquisition targets and strategic partnership opportunities. We caution, however, that no assurance can be made that any suitable acquisition target or partnership opportunity will be identified and, if identified, that a transaction can be consummated. Moreover, if consummated, no assurance can be made that any such acquisition or partnership will profitably add to our operations.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to various market risks, including interest rate and foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. We have established policies, procedures and internal processes governing our management of market risks and the use of financial instruments to manage our exposure to such risks. Under the Agreement with B of A, we can choose from several interest rate option at our discretion. The interest in effect as of April 1, 2002 using the IBOR Rate option plus a fixed margin of 1.25%, was 3.12%. At April 01, 2002, we had no borrowings on our credit line. We have wholly owned subsidiaries in The Netherlands, United Kingdom, Germany, France, Argentina and Spain. Sales from these operations are typically denominated in local currencies including Euros, British Pounds, and Argentine Pesos thereby creating exposures to changes in exchange rates. Changes in the local currencies/U.S. Dollars exchange rate may positively or negatively affect our sales, gross margins and retained earnings. From time to time, we enter into foreign currency exchange agreements to manage our exposure arising from fluctuating exchange rates that affect cash flows. We had no forward exchange contracts outstanding at March 31, 2002. We do not enter into any derivative transactions for speculative purposes. The sensitivity of earnings and cash flows to variability in exchange rates is assessed by applying an approximate range of potential rate fluctuations to our assets, obligations and projected results of operations denominated in foreign currencies. Based on our overall foreign currency rate exposure at March 31, 2002, we believe that movements in foreign currency rates should not materially affect our financial position, although no assurance can be made that any such foreign currency rate movements in the future will not have a material effect. Because of the foregoing factors, as well as other variables that affect our operating results, past financial performance should not be considered a reliable indicator of future performance and

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K

(A)		Exhibits pursuant to Item 601 of Regulation S-K
	10.1	Business Loan Agreement dated April 1, 2002 between Bank of America, N.A. and Universal
		Electronics Inc.

(B) Reports on Form 8-K
There were no reports on Forms 8-K filed during the quarter ended March 31, 2002.

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

(Registrant) Universal Electronics Inc.

Date: May 15, 2002

/s/ Mark Z. Belzowski

Mark Z. Belzowski Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

BUSINESS LOAN AGREEMENT

This Agreement dated as of April 1, 2002, is between Bank of America, N.A. (the "Bank") and Universal Electronics, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Borrower").

1.1 Line of Credit Amount.

- (a) During the availability period described below, the Bank will provide a line of credit to the Borrower. The amount of the line of credit (the "Commitment") is Fifteen Million Dollars (\$15,000,000.00).
- (b) This is a revolving line of credit providing for cash advances and letters of credit. During the availability period, the Borrower may repay principal amounts and reborrow them.
- (c) The Borrower agrees not to permit the outstanding principal balance of advances under the line of credit plus the outstanding amounts of any letters of credit, including amounts drawn on letters of credit and not yet reimbursed, to exceed the Commitment.
- 1.2 Availability Period. The line of credit is available between the date of this Agreement and April 1, 2005, or such earlier date as the availability may terminate as provided in this Agreement (the "Expiration Date").

1.3 Interest Rate.

- (a) Unless the Borrower elects an optional interest rate as described below, the interest rate is a rate per year equal to the Base Rate as defined below.
- (b) The Base Rate means, at any time, the higher of the (i) Prime Rate or (ii) the Federal Funds Rate plus one-half of one percent (0.50%) per annum.
- (c) The Prime Rate is the rate of interest publicly announced from time to time by the Bank as its Prime Rate. The Prime Rate is set by the Bank based on various factors, including the Bank's costs and desired return, general economic conditions and other factors, and is used as a reference point for pricing some loans. The Bank may price loans to its customers at, above, or below the Prime Rate. Any change in the Prime Rate shall take effect at the opening of business on the day specified in the public announcement of a change in the Bank's Prime Rate.
- (d) The Federal Funds Rate is the rate set forth in the weekly statistical release designated a H.15(519), or any successor publication, published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (including any such successor, "H.15(519)" on the preceding banking day opposite the caption "Federal Funds (Effective)"; or for any relevant day such rate is not so published on any such preceding banking day, the rate for such day will be the arithmetic mean as determined by Bank for rates for the last transaction in

overnight Federal funds arranged prior to 9:00 a.m. (California time) on that day by each of the three leading brokers of Federal funds transactions in New York City selected by Bank.

1.4 Repayment Terms.

- (a) The Borrower will pay interest on May 1, 2002, and then monthly thereafter until payment in full of any principal outstanding under this line of credit.
- (b) The Borrower will repay in full all principal and any unpaid interest or other charges outstanding under this line of credit no later than the Expiration Date. Any interest period for an optional interest rate (as described below) shall expire no later than the Expiration Date.
- 1.5 Optional Interest Rates. Instead of the interest rate based on the Base Rate, the Borrower may elect the optional interest rate listed below during interest periods agreed to by the Bank and the Borrower. The optional interest rate shall be subject to the terms and conditions described later in this Agreement. Any principal amount bearing interest at an optional rate under this Agreement is referred to as a "Portion." The following optional interest rate is available:
 - (a) the IBOR Rate plus 1.25 percentage points.

1.6 Letters of Credit.

- (a) This line of credit may be used for financing:
- (i) commercial letters of credit with a maximum maturity of 180 days but not to extend beyond the Expiration Date. Each commercial letter of credit will require drafts payable at sight.
- (ii) standby letters of credit with a maximum maturity of 365 days but not to extend more than 365 days beyond the Expiration Date. The standby letters of credit may include a provision providing that the maturity date will be automatically extended each year for an additional year unless the Bank gives written notice to the contrary.
- (iii) The amount of letters of credit outstanding at any one time (including amounts drawn on the letters of credit and not yet reimbursed) may not exceed Four Million Dollars (\$4,000,000.00).
- (iv) Each letter of credit having an expiration date beyond the Expiration Date must be secured on or before the Expiration Date by cash collateral or other collateral reasonably acceptable to the Bank in an amount not less than the stated amount of such letter of credit.

(v) The following letter of credit is outstanding from the Bank for the account of the Borrower:

Letter of Credit Number Amount ----- 3030671 \$500,000

As of the date of this Agreement, this letter of credit shall be deemed to be outstanding under this Agreement, and shall be subject to all the terms and conditions stated in this Agreement.

(b) The Borrower agrees:

- (i) any sum drawn under a letter of credit may, at the option of the Bank, be added to the principal amount outstanding under this Agreement. The amount will bear interest and be due as described elsewhere in this Agreement.
- $\,$ (ii) if there is a default under this Agreement, to immediately prepay and make the Bank whole for any outstanding letters of credit.
- (iii) the issuance of any letter of credit and any amendment to a letter of credit is subject to the Bank's written approval, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, and must be in form and content reasonably satisfactory to the Bank and in favor of a beneficiary reasonably acceptable to the Bank.
- (iv) to sign the Bank's form Application and Agreement for Commercial Letter of Credit or Application and Agreement for Standby Letter of Credit, as applicable, copies of which are attached hereto as Exhibits A and B (as such exhibits may be revised from time to time).
- (v) to pay any issuance and/or other fees that the Bank notifies the Borrower will be charged for issuing and processing letters of credit for the Borrower.
- $\mbox{(vi)}$ to allow the Bank to automatically charge its checking account for applicable fees, discounts, and other charges.
- (vii) to pay the Bank a non-refundable fee equal to 1.25% per annum of the outstanding undrawn amount of each standby letter of credit, payable quarterly in arrears, calculated on the basis of the stated amount outstanding on the day the fee is calculated.

2. OPTIONAL INTEREST RATES

2.1 Optional Rates. Each optional interest rate is a rate per year. Interest will be paid on the last day of each interest period, and, if the interest period is longer than three months,

then on the last day of each quarter during the interest period. At the end of any interest period, the interest rate will revert to the rate based on the Base Rate, unless the Borrower has designated another optional interest rate for the Portion. No Portion will be converted to a different interest rate during the applicable interest period. Upon the occurrence of an event of default under this Agreement, the Bank may terminate the availability of optional interest rates for interest periods commencing after the default occurs.

- (a) The interest period during which the IBOR Rate will be in effect will be one, two, three or six months as determined by Borrower. The last day of the interest period will be determined by the Bank using the practices of the offshore dollar interbank market.
- (b) Each IBOR Rate Portion will be for an amount not less than Five Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$500,000.00), and integral multiples of One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000.00) in excess thereof.
- (c) Not more than five (5) IBOR Rate Portions shall be outstanding at any one time.
- (d) The "IBOR Rate" means the interest rate determined by the following formula, rounded upward to the nearest 1/100 of one percent. (All amounts in the calculation will be reasonably determined by the Bank as of the first day of the interest period in accordance with its standard practices, procedures and policies.)

Where,

- (i) "IBOR Base Rate" means the interest rate at which the Bank's Grand Cayman Banking Center, Grand Cayman, British West Indies, would offer U.S. dollar deposits for the applicable interest period to other major banks in the offshore dollar inter-bank market.
- (ii) "Reserve Percentage" means the total of the maximum reserve percentages for determining the reserves to be maintained by member banks of the Federal Reserve System for Eurocurrency Liabilities, as defined in Federal Reserve Board Regulation D, rounded upward to the nearest 1/100 of one percent. The percentage will be expressed as a decimal, and will include, but not be limited to, marginal, emergency, supplemental, special, and other reserve percentages.
- (e) Each prepayment of an IBOR Rate Portion, whether voluntary, by reason of acceleration or otherwise, will be accompanied by the amount of accrued interest on the amount prepaid, and a prepayment fee as described below. A

"prepayment" is a payment of an amount on a date earlier than the scheduled payment date for such amount as required by this Agreement.

- (f) The prepayment fee shall be equal to the amount (if any) by which:
 - $\,$ (i) the additional interest which would have been payable during the interest period on the amount prepaid had it not been prepaid, exceeds
 - (ii) the interest which would have been recoverable by the Bank by placing the amount prepaid on deposit in the domestic certificate of deposit market, the eurodollar deposit market, or other appropriate money market selected by the Bank for a period starting on the date on which it was prepaid and ending on the last day of the interest period for such Portion (or the scheduled payment date for the amount prepaid, if earlier).
- (g) The Bank will have no obligation to accept an election for an IBOR Rate Portion if dollar deposits in the principal amount, and for periods equal to the interest period, of an IBOR Rate Portion are not available in the offshore dollar interbank market.

3. FEES AND EXPENSES

3.1 Fees.

- (a) Loan fee. The Borrower agrees to pay a one-time loan fee in the amount of Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars (\$25,000.00). This fee is due on or before the date of this Agreement.
- (b) Unused commitment fee. The Borrower agrees to pay a fee on any difference between the Commitment and the amount of credit it actually uses, determined by the weighted average credit outstanding during the specified period. The fee will be calculated at 0.125% per year. The calculation of credit outstanding shall include the undrawn amount of letters of credit.

This fee is due on June 30, 2002, and on the last day of each following quarter until the expiration of the availability period.

(c) Waiver Fee. If the Bank, at its discretion, agrees to waive or amend any terms of this Agreement, the Borrower will, at the Bank's option, pay the Bank a fee for each waiver or amendment in an amount advised by the Bank at the time the Borrower requests the waiver or amendment. Nothing in this paragraph shall imply that the Bank is obligated to agree to any waiver or amendment requested by the Borrower. The Bank may impose additional requirements as a condition to any waiver or amendment.

- (d) Late Fee. To the extent permitted by law, the Borrower agrees to pay a late fee in an amount not to exceed four percent (4%) of any payment that is more than fifteen (15) days late. The imposition and payment of a late fee shall not constitute a waiver of the Bank's rights with respect to the default.
- 3.2 Reimbursement Costs. The Borrower agrees to reimburse the Bank for any expenses it incurs in the preparation of this Agreement and any agreement or instrument required by this Agreement. Expenses include, but are not limited to, reasonable attorneys' fees, including any allocated costs of the Bank's in-house counsel.

4. DISBURSEMENTS, PAYMENTS AND COSTS

4.1 Requests for Credit. Each request for an extension of credit will be made in writing in a manner reasonably acceptable to the Bank, or by another means reasonably acceptable to the Bank.

4.2 Disbursements and Payments.

- (a) Each payment by the Borrower will be made at the Bank's banking center (or other location) selected by the Bank from time to time; and will be made in immediately available funds.
- (b) Each disbursement by the Bank and each payment by the Borrower will be evidenced by records kept by the Bank. In addition, the Bank may, at its discretion, require the Borrower to sign one or more promissory notes.

4.3 Telephone and Telefax Authorization.

- (a) The Bank may honor telephone or telefax instructions for advances or repayments or for the designation of optional interest rates and telefax requests for the issuance of letters of credit that the Bank reasonably believes have been given, or purported to be given, by any one of the individuals authorized to sign loan agreements on behalf of the Borrower, or any other individual designated in writing by any one of such authorized signers.
- (b) Advances will be deposited in and repayments will be withdrawn from the Borrower's account number 87658-01172, or such other of the Borrower's accounts with the Bank as designated in writing by the Borrower.
- (c) The Borrower will indemnify and hold the Bank harmless from all liability, loss, and costs in connection with any act resulting from telephone or telefax instructions the Bank reasonably believes are made by any of the individuals authorized to sign loan agreements on behalf of the Borrower or any other individual designated in writing by any one of such authorized signers. This paragraph will survive this Agreement's termination, and will benefit the Bank and its officers, employees, and agents.

- 4.4 Direct Debit (Pre-Billing).
- (a) The Borrower agrees that the Bank will debit the Borrower's deposit account number 87658-01172, or such other of the Borrower's accounts with the Bank as designated in writing by the Borrower (the "Designated Account") on the date each payment of principal and interest and any fees from the Borrower becomes due (the "Due Date").
- (b) Approximately 10 days prior to each Due Date, the Bank will mail to the Borrower a statement of the amounts that will be due on that Due Date (the "Billed Amount"). The calculation will be made on the assumption that no new extensions of credit or payments will be made between the date of the billing statement and the Due Date, and that there will be no changes in the applicable interest rate.
- (c) The Bank will debit the Designated Account for the Billed Amount, regardless of the actual amount due on that date (the "Accrued Amount"). If the Billed Amount debited to the Designated Account differs from the Accrued Amount, the discrepancy will be treated as follows:
 - (i) If the Billed Amount is less than the Accrued Amount, the Billed Amount for the following Due Date will be increased by the amount of the discrepancy. The Borrower will not be in default by reason of any such discrepancy.
 - (ii) If the Billed Amount is more than the Accrued Amount, the Billed Amount for the following Due Date will be decreased by the amount of the discrepancy.

Regardless of any such discrepancy, interest will continue to accrue based on the actual amount of principal outstanding without compounding. The Bank will not pay the Borrower interest on any overpayment.

- (d) The Borrower will maintain sufficient funds in the Designated Account to cover each debit. If there are insufficient funds in the Designated Account on the date the Bank enters any debit authorized by this Agreement, the Bank may reverse the debit.
- 4.5 Banking Days. Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, a banking day is a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks are authorized to close, or are in fact closed, in the state where the Bank's lending office is located, and, if such day relates to amounts bearing interest at an offshore rate (if any), means any such day on which dealings in dollar deposits are conducted among banks in the offshore dollar interbank market. All payments and disbursements which would be due on a day which is not a banking day will be due on the next banking day. All payments received on a day which is not a banking day will be applied to the credit on the next banking day.

- 4.6 Taxes. If any payments to the Bank under this Agreement are made from outside the United States, the Borrower will not deduct any foreign taxes from any payments it makes to the Bank. If any such taxes are imposed on any payments made by the Borrower (including payments under this paragraph), the Borrower will pay the taxes and will also pay to the Bank, at the time interest is paid, any additional amount which the Bank specifies as necessary to preserve the after-tax yield the Bank would have received if such taxes had not been imposed. The Borrower will confirm that it has paid the taxes by giving the Bank official tax receipts (or notarized copies) within thirty (30) days after the due date.
- 4.7 Additional Costs. The Borrower will pay the Bank, on demand, for the Bank's costs or losses arising from any statute or regulation, or any request or requirement of a regulatory agency which is applicable to all national banks or a class of all national banks. The costs and losses will be allocated to the loan in a manner determined by the Bank, using any reasonable method. The costs include the following:
 - (a) any reserve or deposit requirements; and
 - (b) any capital requirements relating to the Bank's assets and commitments for credit.
- 4.8 Interest Calculation. Except as otherwise stated in this Agreement, all interest and fees, if any, will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year and the actual number of days elapsed. This results in more interest or a higher fee than if a 365-day year is used. Installments of principal which are not paid when due under this Agreement shall continue to bear interest until paid.
- 4.9 Default Rate. Upon the occurrence of any default under this Agreement, principal amounts outstanding under this Agreement will at the option of the Bank bear interest at a rate which is four percentage point(s) (4%) higher than the rate of interest otherwise provided under this Agreement. This will not constitute a waiver of any default.
- 4.10 Interest Compounding. At the Bank's sole option in each instance, any interest, fees or costs which are not paid when due under this Agreement shall bear interest from the due date at the Base Rate plus four percentage points (4%). This may result in compounding of interest.

5. CONDITIONS

The Bank must receive the following items, in form and content reasonably acceptable to the Bank, before it is required to extend any credit to the Borrower under this Agreement:

5.1 Authorizations. Evidence that the execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of this Agreement and any instrument or agreement required under this Agreement have been duly authorized.

- $5.2 \ \mbox{Governing Documents.}$ A copy of the Borrower's articles of incorporation.
- 5.3 Good Standing. Certificates of good standing for the Borrower from its state of formation and from any other state in which the Borrower is required to qualify to conduct its business.
- 5.4 Payment of Fees. Payment of all accrued and unpaid expenses incurred by the Bank as required by paragraph 3.2, "Reimbursement Costs."
 - 5.5 Other Items. Any other items that the Bank reasonably requires.

6. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

When the Borrower signs this Agreement, and until the Bank is repaid in full, the Borrower makes the following representations and warranties. Each request for an extension of credit constitutes a renewal of these representations and warranties as of the date of the request:

- 6.1 Organization of Borrower. The Borrower is a corporation duly formed and existing under the laws of the state where organized.
- 6.2 Authorization. This Agreement, and any instrument or agreement required hereunder, are within the Borrower's powers, have been duly authorized, and do not conflict with any of its organizational papers.
- 6.3 Enforceable Agreement. This Agreement is a legal, valid and binding agreement of the Borrower, enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with its terms, and any instrument or agreement required hereunder, when executed and delivered, will be similarly legal, valid, binding and enforceable, except as enforce already may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, or other similar laws of general application affecting enforcement of creditor's rights or by general principles of equity limiting the availability of equitable remedies.
- 6.4 Good Standing. In each state in which the Borrower does business, it is properly licensed, in good standing, and, where required, in compliance with fictitious name statutes.
- 6.5 No Conflicts. This Agreement does not conflict with any law, agreement, or obligation by which the Borrower is bound.
- 6.6 Financial Information. All financial and other information that has been or will be supplied to the Bank is sufficiently complete to give the Bank accurate knowledge of the Borrower's (and any guarantor's) financial condition, including all material contingent liabilities. Since the date of the most recent financial statement provided to the Bank, there has been no material adverse change in the business condition (financial or otherwise), operations, properties or prospects of the Borrower (or any guarantor).

- 6.7 Lawsuits. There is no lawsuit, tax claim or other dispute pending or threatened against the Borrower which, if lost, would impair the Borrower's financial condition or ability to repay the loan, except as have been disclosed in writing to the Bank.
- 6.8 Permits, Franchises. The Borrower possesses all permits, memberships, franchises, contracts and licenses required and all trademark rights, trade name rights, patent rights and fictitious name rights necessary to enable it to conduct the business in which it is now engaged.
- 6.9 Other Obligations. The Borrower is not in default on any obligation for borrowed money, any purchase money obligation or any other material lease, commitment, contract, instrument or obligation.
- $6.10~{
 m Tax}$ Matters. The Borrower has no knowledge of any pending assessments or adjustments of its income tax for any year and all taxes due have been paid.
- 6.11 No Event of Default. There is no event which is, or with notice or lapse of time or both would be, a default under this Agreement.
- 6.12 Insurance. The Borrower has obtained, and maintained in effect, the insurance coverage required in the "Covenants" section of this Agreement.

6.13 ERISA Plans.

- (a) Each Plan (other than a multiemployer plan) is in compliance in all material respects with the applicable provisions of ERISA, the Code and other federal or state law. Each Plan has received a favorable determination letter from the IRS and to the knowledge of the Borrower, nothing has occurred which would cause the loss of such qualification. The Borrower has fulfilled its obligations, if any, under the minimum funding standards of ERISA and the Code with respect to each Plan, and has not incurred any liability with respect to any Plan under Title IV of ERISA.
- (b) To Borrower's knowledge, there are no claims, lawsuits or actions (including by any governmental authority), and to Borrower's knowledge there has been no prohibited transaction or violation of the fiduciary responsibility rules, with respect to any Plan which has resulted or could reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse effect.
 - (c) With respect to any Plan subject to Title IV of ERISA:
 - (i) To Borrower's knowledge, no reportable event has occurred under Section 4043(c) of ERISA for which the PBGC requires $30\text{-}\mathrm{day}$ notice.
 - (ii) No action by the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate to terminate or withdraw from any Plan has been taken and no notice of intent to terminate a Plan has been filed by Borrower under Section 4041 of ERISA.

- (iii) To Borrower's knowledge, no termination proceeding has been commenced with respect to a Plan under Section 4042 of ERISA, and no event has occurred or condition exists which might constitute grounds for the commencement of such a proceeding.
- $\,$ (d) The following terms have the meanings indicated for purposes of this Agreement:
 - (i) "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.
 - (ii) "ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time.
 - (iii) "ERISA Affiliate" means any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) under common control with the Borrower within the meaning of Section $414\,(b)$ or (c) of the Code.
 - (iv) "PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.
 - (v) "Plan" means a pension, profit-sharing, or stock bonus plan intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Code, maintained or contributed to by the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate, including any multiemployer plan within the meaning of Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA.
- 6.14 Location of Borrower. The Borrower's place of business (or, if the Borrower has more than one place of business, its chief executive office) is located at the address listed under the Borrower's signature on this Agreement.
- 6.15 Environmental Matters. The Borrower (a) is not in violation of any health, safety, or environmental law or regulation regarding hazardous substances and (b) is not the subject of any claim, proceeding, notice, or other communication regarding hazardous substances. "Hazardous substances" means any substance, material or waste that is or becomes designated or regulated as "toxic," "hazardous," "pollutant," or "contaminant" or a similar designation or regulation under any federal, state or local law (whether under common law, statute, regulation or otherwise) or judicial or administrative interpretation of such, including without limitation petroleum or natural gas.

7. COVENANTS

The Borrower agrees, so long as credit is available under this Agreement and until the Bank is repaid in full:

7.1 Use of Proceeds. To use the proceeds of the credit only for general corporate purposes, including for working capital, and for investments and acquisitions permitted under the terms of this Agreement.

- 7.2 Financial Information. To provide the following financial information and statements in form and content acceptable to the Bank, and such additional information as requested by the Bank from time to time:
 - (a) Within 90 days of the Borrower's fiscal year end, the Borrower's annual financial statements. These financial statements must be audited (with an unqualified opinion) by a Certified Public Accountant reasonably acceptable to the Bank. The statements shall be prepared on a consolidated basis.
 - (b) Within 45 days of the period's end (other than the last period in each fiscal year), the Borrower's quarterly financial statements or Form 10-Q Quarterly Report. These financial statements may be Borrower prepared. The statements shall be prepared on a consolidated basis.
 - (c) Promptly, upon sending or receipt, copies of any management letters and correspondence relating to management letters, sent or received by the Borrower to or from the Borrower's auditor.
 - (d) Copies of the Borrower's Form 10-K Annual Report, Form 10-Q Quarterly Report and Form 8-K Current Report concurrent with the date of filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
 - (e) Within the period(s) provided in (a) and (b) above, a compliance certificate of the Borrower signed by an authorized financial officer of the Borrower setting forth (i) the information and computations (in sufficient detail) to establish that the Borrower is in compliance with all financial covenants at the end of the period covered by the financial statements then being furnished and (ii) whether there existed as of the date of such financial statements and whether there exists as of the date of the certificate, any default under this Agreement and, if any such default exists, specifying the nature thereof and the action the Borrower is taking and proposes to take with respect thereto.
 - (f) As soon as available, and in any event within 60 days after the close of each fiscal year of the Borrower, copies of consolidated financial projections on a quarterly basis for the succeeding fiscal year, which projections shall include balance sheets, income statements, and statements of cash flow for the Borrower and its subsidiaries.
 - (g) Promptly upon the Bank's reasonable request, such other books, records, statements, lists of property and accounts, budgets, forecasts or reports as to the Borrower as the Bank may request.
- 7.3 Quick Ratio. To maintain on a consolidated basis a ratio of quick assets to current liabilities of at least 1.0:1.0.

"Quick assets" means cash, short-term cash investments in non-affiliated entities, net trade receivables and marketable securities not classified as long-term investments. "Current liabilities" shall include all obligations classified as current liabilities under generally accepted accounting principles, plus all principal amounts outstanding under revolving lines of credit plus the outstanding amount of letters of credit, whether classified as current or long-term, which are not already included above.

- 7.4 EBITDA. To maintain on a consolidated basis, EBITDA equal to or at least Thirteen Million Dollars (\$13,000,000.00). "EBITDA" means net income, less income or plus loss from discontinued operations and extraordinary items, plus income taxes, plus interest expense, plus depreciation, depletion, amortization, and other non-cash charges. This ratio will be calculated at the end of each fiscal quarter, using the results of that quarter and each of the three (3) immediately preceding quarters.
- 7.5 Tangible Net Worth. To maintain on a consolidated basis, Tangible Net Worth equal to at least the sum of the following:
 - (a) Sixty Million Dollars (\$60,000,000.00); plus
 - (b) the sum of 50% of consolidated net income after income taxes (without subtracting losses) earned in each quarterly accounting period including the fourth fiscal quarter of 2001; plus
 - (c) 75% of the net proceeds from any equity securities issued after the date of this Agreement.

"Tangible Net Worth" means the value of Borrower's total assets (including leaseholds and leasehold improvements and reserves against assets) but excluding goodwill, patents, trademarks, trade names, or organization expense, unamortized debt discount and expense, capitalized or deferred research and development costs, deferred marketing expenses, and other like intangibles, and monies due from affiliates, officers, directors, employees, and shareholders of Borrower, less total liabilities, including but not limited to accrued and deferred income taxes. For the purposes of this Section 7.5, during the term of this Agreement, Tangible Net Worth shall not be reduced by the redemption of up to 1,000,000 shares of the Borrower's common stock.

- 7.6 Other Debts. Not to have outstanding or incur any direct or contingent liabilities or lease obligations (other than those to the Bank), or become liable for the liabilities of others, without the Bank's written consent. This does not prohibit:
 - (a) Acquiring goods, supplies, or merchandise on normal trade
 - $\mbox{\ \ }$ (b) Endorsing negotiable instruments received in the usual course of business.
 - (c) Obtaining surety bonds in the usual course of business.

- (d) Liabilities, lines of credit and leases in existence on the date of this Agreement disclosed in writing to the Bank in the Borrower's financial statement dated December 31, 2001.
- (e) Additional debts and lease obligations for the acquisition of fixed assets, which debts and lease obligations do not exceed a total principal amount of Two Million Dollars (\$2,000,000.00) in the aggregate at any one time.
- (f) Additional debts of a subsidiary of the Borrower owing to the Borrower or to another subsidiary of the Borrower which debts do not exceed Five Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$500,000.00) at any one time.
- 7.7 Other Liens. Not to create, assume, or allow any security interest or lien (including judicial liens) on property the Borrower now or later owns, except:
 - (a) Liens granted to, or in favor of, the Bank.
 - (b) Liens for current charges not delinquent or for charges being contested in good faith, by appropriate proceedings, and with respect to which the Borrower is maintaining adequate reserves if required in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP").
 - (c) Liens which arise in the ordinary course of business for sums not due or sums which the Borrower is contesting in good faith, by appropriate proceedings and with respect to which the Borrower is maintaining adequate reserves if required in accordance with GAAP, but which do not involve any deposits, advances, or indebtedness or the deferred purchase price of property or services.
 - (d) Lien granted by any subsidiary of the Borrower to secure such subsidiary's indebtedness to the Borrower.
 - (e) Liens of carriers, warehousemen, mechanics, materialmen, repairmen, landlords and other like statutory liens arising in the ordinary course of business securing obligations which are not overdue or which are being diligently contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings and as to which such reserves or other appropriate provisions as may be required by GAAP are being maintained on its books;
 - (f) Liens incurred in the ordinary course of business in connection with worker's compensation unemployment insurance or other forms of governmental insurance or benefits;
 - (g) Judgment liens in existence less than 30 days after the entry thereof or with respect to which execution has been stayed or the payment of which is covered in full (subject to a customary deductible) by insurance maintained with responsible insurance companies;

- (h) Liens in existence on the date of the date hereof disclosed to the $\mathtt{Bank} \, ;$
- (i) Additional purchase money security interests in equipment or personal property fixed assets acquired after the date of this Agreement, if the total amount of debts secured by such liens does not exceed Two Million Dollars (\$2,000,000.00) in the aggregate at any one time
- 7.8 Capital Expenditures. Not to spend or incur obligations (including the total amount of capital leases) of more than the amounts indicated below during each fiscal year specified below to acquire fixed assets;

Fiscal Year	Amount
2002	\$4,000,000.00
2003	\$5,000,000.00
2004	\$6,000,000.00

In any year that the Borrower has incurred relocation expenses in connection with its new headquarters, the amount indicated above for such fiscal year shall be increased by the amount of such relocation expenses, not to exceed \$2,500,000.00 in the aggregate during the term of this Agreement.

- 7.9 Dividends. Not to declare or pay any dividends on any of its shares except dividends payable in capital stock of the Borrower, and not to purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire for value any of its shares, or create any sinking fund in relation thereto; provided, however, from the date of this Agreement through the Expiration Date, the Borrower may redeem up to 1,000,000 shares of its common stock so long as immediately before and after giving effect to any such redemption no event of default or event, which with the giving of notice or lapse of time would constitute an event of default under this Agreement, shall have occurred and be continuing, and (ii) the ratio of the Borrower's consolidated Indebtedness to Tangible Net Worth is less than 40.0%. For the purposes of this Section 7.9, "Indebtedness" means all obligations and liabilities of Borrower to any party (including without limitation all debts, claims and indebtedness for borrowed money) whether primary, secondary, direct, contingent, fixed, or otherwise, heretofore, now and/or from time to time hereafter owing, due or payable, however evidenced, created, incurred, acquired, or owing and however arising, whether under written or oral agreement, by operation of law, or otherwise; excluding, however, trade payables, arising in the ordinary course of business, normal and customary business accruals and other employee-related obligations and liabilities not constituting indebtedness for borrowed money. "Tangible Net Worth" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.5 hereof, provided, however, that for purposes of this Section 7.9, the calculation of Tangible Net Worth will not add back the redemption of up to 1,000,000 shares of the Borrower's common stock.
 - 7.10 Notices to Bank. To promptly notify the Bank in writing of:
 - (a) any lawsuit over One Million Dollars (\$1,000,000.00) and any judgments over Five Hundred Thousand (\$500,000.00) against the Borrower.

- (b) any substantial dispute between the Borrower and any government authority.
- (c) any event of default under this Agreement, or any event which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute an event of default.
- (d) any material adverse change in the Borrower's business condition (financial or otherwise), operations, properties or prospects, or ability to repay the credit.
- (e) any change in the Borrower's name, legal structure, place of business, or chief executive office if the Borrower has more than one place of business.
- (f) any actual contingent liabilities of the Borrower, and any such contingent liabilities which are reasonably foreseeable, where such liabilities are in excess of Two Million Dollars (\$2,000,000.00) in the aggregate.
- 7.11 Books and Records. To maintain adequate books and records.
- 7.12 Audits. To allow the Bank and its agents to inspect the Borrower's properties and examine, audit, and make copies of books and records at any reasonable time. If any of the Borrower's properties, books or records are in the possession of a third party, the Borrower authorizes that third party to permit the Bank or its agents to have access to perform inspections or audits and to respond to the Bank's requests for information concerning such properties, books and records.
- 7.13 Compliance with Laws. To comply with the laws (including any fictitious name statute), regulations, and orders of any government body with authority over the Borrower's business.
- 7.14 Preservation of Rights. To maintain and preserve all rights, privileges, and franchises the Borrower now has which are deemed necessary by Borrower in the conduct of its business.
- 7.15 Maintenance of Properties. To make any repairs, renewals, or replacements to keep the Borrower's properties in good working condition.
- 7.16 Perfection of Liens. To help the Bank perfect and protect its security interests and liens, and reimburse it for related costs it incurs to protect its security interests and liens.
- 7.17 Cooperation. To take any action reasonably requested by the Bank to carry out the intent of this Agreement.

7.18 Insurance.

- (a) General Business Insurance. To maintain insurance reasonably satisfactory to the Bank as to amount, nature and carrier covering property damage (including loss of use and occupancy) to any of the Borrower's properties, public liability insurance including coverage for contractual liability, product liability and workers' compensation, and any other insurance which is usual for the Borrower's business.
- (b) Evidence of Insurance. Upon the request of the Bank, to deliver to the Bank a copy of each insurance policy, or, if permitted by the Bank, a certificate of insurance listing all insurance in force.
- 7.19 Consolidations, Mergers, Acquisitions. The Borrower will not and will not permit any of its subsidiaries to be a party to any merger, liquidation, dissolution, consolidation, or acquisition, except that:
- (a) any subsidiary of the Borrower may liquidate, or dissolve voluntarily into, or may merge with and into, the Borrower or any other wholly-owned subsidiary of the Borrower;
- (b) the assets or stock of any subsidiary of the Borrower may be purchased or otherwise acquired by the Borrower or any domestic subsidiary of the Borrower:
- (c) the Borrower may create additional subsidiaries and may make acquisitions of subsidiaries pursuant to transactions which are Approved Acquisitions. For the purposes of this Section 7.19, "Approved Acquisition" means any acquisition by the Borrower or any subsidiary of the Borrower of all or substantially all of the stock, equity interests or assets of another party (the "Target") provided that (a) such transaction has been approved by the board of directors or other similar body of the Target and if necessary under applicable law, the shareholders or other owners of the Target have also so approved such transaction, (b) the Target is engaged in substantially the same line of business engaged in the Borrower and its subsidiaries immediately prior to the transaction, (c) the Target must have a positive rolling four quarter EBITDA, (d) no contingent liabilities in excess of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$250,000) in the aggregate shall be assumed by the Borrower or its subsidiaries, (e) the assets of the Target are not subject to any liens (except for purchase money security interests limited to the asset purchased and capital leases), (f) immediately before and after giving effect to such transaction, there shall not exist an event of default, or any event which with the giving of notice or lapse of time would constitute an event of default under this Agreement, as evidenced by delivery to the Bank of a compliance certificate by the Borrower in form and substance acceptable to the Bank, and (g) the total consideration payable for such acquisition shall not exceed Ten Million Dollars (\$10,000,000.00) per acquisition and Fifteen Million Dollars (\$15,000,000.00) in the aggregate for all acquisitions during the term of this Agreement.

- 7.20 Additional Negative Covenants. Not to, without the Bank's written consent:
 - (a) engage in any business activities substantially different from the Borrower's present business.
 - (b) liquidate or dissolve the Borrower's business.
 - (c) sell, assign, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of any assets for less than fair market value, or enter into any agreement to do so, except in an aggregate amount not exceeding One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000) in any fiscal year.
 - (d) sell, assign, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of all or a substantial part of the Borrower's business or the Borrower's assets other than in the ordinary course of the Borrower's business except in an aggregate amount not exceeding Two Million Dollars (\$2,000,000.00) in any fiscal year.
 - (e) enter into any sale and leaseback agreement covering any of its fixed assets.
- 7.21 ERISA Plans. With respect to a Plan subject to Title IV of ERISA, to give prompt written notice to the Bank of:
 - (a) The occurrence of any reportable event under Section 4043(c) of ERISA for which the PBGC requires 30-day notice;
 - (b) Any action by the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate to terminate or withdraw from a Plan or the filing of any notice of intent to terminate under Section 4041 of ERISA; or
 - (c) The commencement of any proceeding with respect to a Plan under Section 4042 of ERISA.

8. HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES

- 8.1 Indemnity Regarding Hazardous Substances. The Borrower will indemnify and hold harmless the Bank from any loss or liability the Bank incurs in connection with or as a result of this Agreement, which directly or indirectly arises out of the use, generation, manufacture, production, storage, release, threatened release, discharge, disposal or presence of a hazardous substance. This indemnity will apply whether the hazardous substance is on, under or about the Borrower's property or operations or property leased to the Borrower. The indemnity includes but is not limited to attorneys' fees (including the reasonable estimate of the allocated cost of in-house counsel and staff). The indemnity extends to the Bank, its parent, subsidiaries and all of their directors, officers, employees, agents, successors, attorneys and assigns.
- 8.2 Definition of Hazardous Substances. "Hazardous substances" means any substance, material or waste that is or becomes designated or regulated as "toxic," "hazardous,"

"pollutant," or "contaminant" or a similar designation or regulation under any federal, state or local law (whether under common law, statute, regulation or otherwise) or judicial or administrative interpretation of such, including without limitation petroleum or natural gas. This indemnity will survive repayment of the Borrower's obligations to the Bank.

9. DEFAULT

If any of the following events occurs, the Bank may do one or more of the following: declare the Borrower in default, stop making any additional credit available to the Borrower, and require the Borrower to repay its entire debt immediately and without prior notice. If an event of default occurs under the paragraph entitled "Bankruptcy," below, with respect to the Borrower, then the entire debt outstanding under this Agreement will automatically be due immediately.

- 9.1 Failure to Pay. The Borrower fails to make a payment of principal under this Agreement within two (2) business days after the date when due, or fails to make a payment of interest, any fee or other sum under this Agreement within five (5) business days after the date when due.
- 9.2 False Information. The Borrower has given the Bank materially false or misleading information or representations.
- 9.3 Bankruptcy. The Borrower (or any subsidiary of the Borrower) files a bankruptcy petition, a bankruptcy petition is filed against the Borrower (or any subsidiary of the Borrower), or the Borrower (or any subsidiary of the Borrower) makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors. The default will be deemed cured if any bankruptcy petition filed against the Borrower (or any subsidiary of the Borrower) is dismissed within a period of thirty (30) days after the filing; provided, however, that the Bank will not be obligated to extend any additional credit to the Borrower during that period; and provided further that such cure opportunity will be terminated upon the entry of an order for relief in any bankruptcy case arising from such a petition.
- 9.4 Receivers. A receiver or similar official is appointed for a substantial portion of the Borrower's (or any subsidiary of the Borrower) business, or the business is terminated.
- 9.5 Judgments. Any judgments or arbitration awards are entered against the Borrower (or any subsidiary of the Borrower), or the Borrower (or any subsidiary of the Borrower) enters into any settlement agreements with respect to any litigation or arbitration, in an aggregate amount of One Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$1,500,000.00) or more, excluding those judgments or awards (i) that shall been outstanding less than 30 calendar days from entry thereof, or (ii) for and to the extent which the Borrower or any subsidiary of the Borrower is insured and with respect to which the insurer has assumed responsibility in writing or for and to the extent which the Borrower or any subsidiary of the Borrower is otherwise

indemnified if the terms of such indemnification and the party providing such indemnification are reasonably satisfactory to the Bank.

- 9.6 Government Action. Any government authority takes action that the Bank reasonably believes materially adversely affects the Borrower's financial condition or ability to repay.
- 9.7 Material Adverse Change. A material adverse change occurs, or is reasonably likely to occur, in the Borrower's business condition (financial or otherwise), operations, properties or prospects, or ability to repay the credit.

9.8 Cross-default.

- (a) Any default in the payment when due, whether by acceleration or otherwise (subject to any applicable grace period) occurs under any agreement in connection with any Indebtedness (as defined in Section 7.9 hereof) in a principal amount equal to or greater than Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$250,000.00) the Borrower or any of the Borrower's subsidiaries has obtained from anyone else or which the Borrower or any of the Borrower's subsidiaries has guaranteed.
- (b) Any event or condition shall occur which results in the acceleration of the maturity of any Indebtedness in a principal amount equal to or greater than Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$250,000.00) of, or guaranteed by, the Borrower or any subsidiary of the Borrower or enables the holder or holders of such credit or any trustee or agent for such holders (any applicable grace period having expired) to accelerate the maturity of such Indebtedness.
- 9.9 Other Bank Agreements. The Borrower or any of the Borrower's subsidiaries fails to meet the conditions of, or fails to perform any obligation under any other agreement in the amount of Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$250,000.00) or more, the Borrower or any of the Borrower's subsidiaries has with the Bank or any affiliate of the Bank.
- 9.10 ERISA Plans. Any one or more of the following events occurs with respect to a Plan of the Borrower subject to Title IV of ERISA, provided such event or events could reasonably be expected, in the judgment of the Bank, to subject the Borrower to any tax, penalty or liability (or any combination of the foregoing) which, in the aggregate, could have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the Borrower:
 - (a) A reportable event shall occur under Section 4043(c) of ERISA with respect to a Plan.
 - (b) Any Plan termination (or commencement of proceedings to terminate a Plan) or the full or partial withdrawal from a Plan by the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate.

9.11 Other Breach Under Agreement. The Borrower fails to meet the conditions of, or fails to perform any obligation under, any term of this Agreement not specifically referred to in this Article. This includes any failure or anticipated failure by the Borrower to comply with any financial covenants set forth in this Agreement, whether such failure is evidenced by financial statements delivered to the Bank or is otherwise known to the Borrower or the Bank. If, in the Bank's opinion, the breach is capable of being remedied, the breach will not be considered an event of default under this Agreement for a period of thirty (30) days after the date on which the Bank gives written notice of the breach to the Borrower; provided, however, that the Bank will not be obligated to extend any additional credit to the Borrower during that period.

10. ENFORCING THIS AGREEMENT; MISCELLANEOUS

- 10.1 GAAP. Except as otherwise stated in this Agreement, all financial information provided to the Bank and all financial covenants will be made under generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied.
 - 10.2 California Law. This Agreement is governed by California law.
- 10.3 Successors and Assigns. This Agreement is binding on the Borrower's and the Bank's successors and assignees. The Borrower agrees that it may not assign this Agreement without the Bank's prior consent. The Bank may sell participations in or assign this loan, and may exchange financial information about the Borrower with actual or potential participants or assignees; provided that such actual or potential participants or assignees shall agree to treat all financial information exchanged as confidential. If a participation is sold or the loan is assigned, the purchaser will have the right of set-off against the Borrower.

10.4 Arbitration and Waiver of Jury Trial.

- (a) This paragraph concerns the resolution of any controversies or claims between the Borrower and the Bank, whether arising in contract, tort or by statute, including but not limited to controversies or claims that arise out of or relate to: (i) this Agreement (including any renewals, extensions or modifications); or (ii) any document related to this Agreement (collectively a "Claim").
- (b) At the request of the Borrower or the Bank, any Claim shall be resolved by binding arbitration in accordance with the Federal Arbitration Act (Title 9, U. S. Code) (the "Act"). The Act will apply even though this Agreement provides that it is governed by the law of a specified state.
- (c) Arbitration proceedings will be determined in accordance with the Act, the applicable rules and procedures for the arbitration of disputes of JAMS or any successor thereof ("JAMS"), and the terms of this paragraph. In the event of any inconsistency, the terms of this paragraph shall control.
- (d) The arbitration shall be administered by JAMS and conducted in any U. S. state where real or tangible personal property collateral for this credit is located or if there is no such collateral, in California. All Claims shall be determined by one

arbitrator; however, if Claims exceed Five Million Dollars (\$5,000,000), upon the request of any party, the Claims shall be decided by three arbitrators. All arbitration hearings shall commence within ninety (90) days of the demand for arbitration and close within ninety (90) days of commencement and the award of the arbitrator(s) shall be issued within thirty (30) days of the close of the hearing. However, the arbitrator(s), upon a showing of good cause, may extend the commencement of the hearing for up to an additional sixty (60) days. The arbitrator(s) shall provide a concise written statement of reasons for the award. The arbitration award may be submitted to any court having jurisdiction to be confirmed and enforced.

- (e) The arbitrator(s) will have the authority to decide whether any Claim is barred by the statute of limitations and, if so, to dismiss the arbitration on that basis. For purposes of the application of the statute of limitations, the service on JAMS under applicable JAMS rules of a notice of Claim is the equivalent of the filing of a lawsuit. Any dispute concerning this arbitration provision or whether a Claim is arbitrable shall be determined by the arbitrator(s). The arbitrator(s) shall have the power to award legal fees pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
- (f) This paragraph does not limit the right of the Borrower or the Bank to: (i) exercise self-help remedies, such as but not limited to, setoff; (ii) initiate judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure against any real or personal property collateral; (iii) exercise any judicial or power of sale rights, or (iv) act in a court of law to obtain an interim remedy, such as but not limited to, injunctive relief, writ of possession or appointment of a receiver, or additional or supplementary remedies.
- (g) The procedure described above will not apply if the Claim, at the time of the proposed submission to arbitration, arises from or relates to an obligation to the Bank secured by real property. In this case, both the Borrower and the Bank must consent to submission of the Claim to arbitration. If both parties do not consent to arbitration, the Claim will be resolved as follows: The Borrower and the Bank will designate a referee (or a panel of referees) selected under the auspices of JAMS in the same manner as arbitrators are selected in JAMS administered proceedings. The designated referee(s) will be appointed by a court as provided in California Code of Civil Procedure Section 638 and the following related sections. The referee (or the presiding referee of the panel) will be an active attorney or a retired judge. The award that results from the decision of the referee(s) will be entered as a judgment in the court that appointed the referee, in accordance with the provisions of California Code of Civil Procedure Sections 644 and 645.
- (h) The filing of a court action is not intended to constitute a waiver of the right of the Borrower or the Bank, including the suing party, thereafter to require submittal of the Claim to arbitration.
- (i) By agreeing to binding arbitration, the parties irrevocably and voluntarily waive any right they may have to a trial by jury in respect of any Claim. Furthermore, without intending in any way to limit this agreement to arbitrate, to the extent any Claim is

not arbitrated, the parties irrevocably and voluntarily waive any right they may have to a trial by jury in respect of such Claim. This provision is a material inducement for the parties entering into this Agreement.

- 10.5 Severability; Waivers. If any part of this Agreement is not enforceable, the rest of the Agreement may be enforced. The Bank retains all rights, even if it makes a loan after default. If the Bank waives a default, it may enforce a later default. Any consent or waiver under this Agreement must be in writing.
- 10.6 Administration Costs. The Borrower shall pay the Bank for all reasonable costs incurred by the Bank in connection with administering this Agreement.
- 10.7 Attorneys' Fees. The Borrower shall reimburse the Bank for any reasonable costs and attorneys' fees incurred by the Bank in connection with the enforcement or preservation of any rights or remedies under this Agreement and any other documents executed in connection with this Agreement, and in connection with any amendment, waiver, "workout" or restructuring under this Agreement. In the event of a lawsuit or arbitration proceeding, the prevailing party is entitled to recover costs and reasonable attorneys' fees incurred in connection with the lawsuit or arbitration proceeding, as determined by the court or arbitrator. In the event that any case is commenced by or against the Borrower under the Bankruptcy Code (Title 11, United States Code) or any similar or successor statute, the Bank is entitled to recover costs and reasonable attorneys' fees incurred by the Bank related to the preservation, protection, or enforcement of any rights of the Bank in such a case. As used in this paragraph, "attorneys' fees" includes the allocated costs of the Bank's in-house counsel.
- 10.8 One Agreement. This Agreement and any related security or other agreements required by this Agreement, collectively:
 - (a) represent the sum of the understandings and agreements between the Bank and the Borrower concerning this credit;
 - (b) replace any prior oral or written agreements between the Bank and the Borrower concerning this credit; and
 - (c) are intended by the Bank and the Borrower as the final, complete and exclusive statement of the terms agreed to by them.

In the event of any conflict between this Agreement and any other agreements required by this Agreement, this Agreement will prevail.

10.9 Indemnification. The Borrower will indemnify and hold the Bank harmless from any loss, liability, damages, judgments, and costs of any kind relating to or arising directly or indirectly out of (a) this Agreement or any document required hereunder, (b) any credit extended or committed by the Bank to the Borrower hereunder, (c) any claim, whether well-founded or otherwise, that there has been a failure to comply with any law regulating the Borrower's sales or leases to or performance of services for debtors obligated upon the

Borrower's accounts receivable and disclosures in connection therewith, and (d) any litigation or proceeding related to or arising out of this Agreement, any such document, any such credit, or any such claim. This indemnity includes but is not limited to attorneys' fees (including the allocated cost of in-house counsel). This indemnity extends to the Bank, its parent, subsidiaries and all of their directors, officers, employees, agents, successors, attorneys, and assigns. This indemnity will survive repayment of the Borrower's obligations to the Bank. All sums due to the Bank hereunder shall be obligations of the Borrower, due and payable immediately without demand.

- 10.10 Notices. Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement or in another agreement between the Bank and the Borrower, all notices required under this Agreement shall be personally delivered or sent by first class mail, postage prepaid, or by overnight courier, to the addresses on the signature page of this Agreement, or sent by facsimile to the fax numbers listed on the signature page, or to such other addresses as the Bank and the Borrower may specify from time to time in writing. Notices and other communications sent by (a) first class mail shall be deemed delivered on the earlier of actual receipt or on the fourth business day after deposit in the U.S. mail, postage prepaid, (b) overnight courier shall be deemed delivered on the next business day, and (c) telecopy shall be deemed delivered when transmitted.
- 10.11 Headings. Article and paragraph headings are for reference only and shall not affect the interpretation or meaning of any provisions of this Agreement.
- 10.12 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in as many counterparts as necessary or convenient, and by the different parties on separate counterparts each of which, when so executed, shall be deemed an original but all such counterparts shall constitute but one and the same agreement.
- 10.13 Prior Agreement Superseded. This Agreement supersedes the Revolving Loan and Security Agreement entered into as of October 2, 1998, as amended, between the Bank and the Borrower, and any credit outstanding thereunder shall be deemed to be outstanding under this Agreement.

This Agreement is executed as of the date stated at the top of the first page.

Bank of America, N.A.

Universal Electronics, Inc.

Typed Name: Cynthia Goodfellow

Title: Vice President

Address where notices to the Bank are to be sent: 675 Anton Boulevard, 2nd Floor Costa Mesa, California 92626

Facsimile: 714/850-6583

Зу

Typed Name: Mark Belzowski Title: Chief Financial Officer

Address where notices to the Borrower are to be sent: 6101 Gateway Drive Cypress, California 90630 Facsimile: 714/820-1151